IN THE MATTER OF THE ENGINEERS AND GEOSCIENTISTS ACT
R.S.B.C. 1996, CHAPTER 116 as amended

and
IN THE MATTER OF KEVIN A. BROMLEY, P.Eng.

NOTICE OF INQUIRY

TO: Kevin A. Bromley, P.Eng.
P.O. Box 39
1838 Baden Powell Road
Shawnigan Lake, B.C. VOR 2W0

TAKE NOTICE that a Panel of the Discipline Committee of the Association of
Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia (the “Association”), will meet at
Suite 800 — 900 Howe Street, in the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Columbia on
Tuesday November 18 through Thursday November 20, 2014, at the hour of 9:30 in the
forenoon for the purpose of taking evidence or otherwise causing an inquiry to be made with
respect to the allegation herein pursuant to the Engineers and Geoscientists Act, R.S.B.C.
1996, Chapter 116, as amended (the “Acft).

AND TAKE NOTICE that the allegation against you is that contrary to the Act, you have
demonstrated unprofessional conduct in your professional services in relation to soil relocation
from one or more of: | N NN i~ Al 2010, I in September 2010,
I i~ Scptember and October 2010, NN in October 2010
and I in October and November 2010, by one or more of the following breaches of
the Environmental Management Act, S.B.C. 2003, c. 53, or the Contaminated Sites Regulation,
B.C. Reg. 375/96 as amended:

1. Failing to file a Notice of Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment;

2. Failing to obtain a soil relocation agreement to transport contaminated soil from a
site;

3. Failing to submit soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test;

4. Knew, or ought to have known, that contaminated soil was being transported to
unauthorized sites; and

5. Undertaking excavation and transport of soil which he knew, or ought to have
known, was contaminated by tetrachlorethene, but did not have monitoring of air
vapours conducted during execution of the work to ensure workers or the public
were not exposed to vapours at concentrations that may cause adverse health
effects.

AND FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that you, Kevin A. Bromley, P.Eng., have the right, at
your own expense, to be represented by legal counsel at the inquiry by the Panel of the
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Discipline Committee and you or your legal counsel shall have the full right to cross-examine all
witnesses called and to call evidence in defence and reply in answer to the allegation.

AND FURTHER TAKE NOTICE that in the event of your non-attendance at the inquiry,
the Panel of the Discipline Committee may, upon proof of service of this Notice of Hearing upon
you, proceed with the taking of evidence or otherwise ascertaining the facts concering the
allegation, despite your absence, and may make its findings on the facts and its decision without
further notice to you.

N

DATED this<. _day of October, 2014.

-~
Fi

The Discipline Committee of the Association of
Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of the
Province of British Columbia.

)
P

/"3 —

Per: Paul Adams, P.Eng.,
Chair Discipline Committee

4726594.02



IN THE MATTER of the ENGINEERS AND GEOSCIENTISTS ACT
R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 116 (as amended)

and

KEVIN A. BROMLEY, P.Eng.

DETERMINATION OF THE DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE
ON UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

Discipline Committee Panel: Paul Adams, P.Eng. (Chair)
Dave Ricketts, P.Eng.

Oliver Bonham, P.Geo.

Counsel for the Panel: Eric Wredenhagen
Counsel for Association: Robert Hunter
Member: Kevin A. Bromley, P.Eng.

Mr. Bromley was not represented by counsel
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INTRODUCTION

(]

[2]

[3]

[4]

[5]

[6]

A Discipline Committee Panel (the “Panei”) of the Association of Professional Engineers
and Geoscientists of British Columbia (the “Association”), acting under the authority of the
Engineers and Geoscientists Act, RSBC 1996 c. 116 as amended (the “Act”), held an
Inquiry to examine alleged contraventions of the Act and of the Association’s Code of
Ethics by Kevin A. Bromley, P.Eng.

The hearing took place in the offices of Bull Housser & Tupper LLP on November 18 and
19, 2014. The charges against Mr. Bromley are set out in the Notice of Inquiry as follows:

“Contrary to the Act, you have demonstrated unprofessional conduct in your
professional services in relation to soil relocation from one or more of; | NNGNGNGTGTG
I n April 2010, I in Scptember 2010, NG i
September and October 2010, | N~ October 2010 and N
I in October and November 2010, by one or more of the following breaches
of the Environmental Management Act, S.B.C. 2003, c. 53 (“EMA”), or the
Contaminated Sites Regulation, B.C. Reg. 375/96 as amended:

S P

T Ao A Ty ot L Al ATt
Independent Remediation with the Ministry of

1. Failing to file a Notice o
Environment;

2. Failing to obtain a soil relocation agreement to relocate contaminated
soil from one site to another;

3. Failing to submit soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate
Procedure test;

4. Knew, or ought to have known, that contaminated soil was being
transported to unauthorized sites; and

5. Undertaking excavation and transport of soil which he knew, or ought
to have known, was contaminated by tetrachlorethene, but did not have
monitoring of air vapours conducted during execution of the work to
ensure workers or the public were not exposed to vapours at
concentrations that may cause adverse health effects.”

The Panel convened on November 18, 2014 at 9:30 AM. Mr. Bromley was not represented
by counsel. The Chair asked Mr. Bromley if he knew that he had the right to be
represented by counsel and Mr. Bromley affirmed that he did and wished to represent
himself.

The Chair asked Mr. Bromley if he had read and understood the allegations against him.
Mr. Bromley affirmed that he did.

On November 18, 2014, the Panel heard the evidence on the allegation of unprofessional
conduct under Section 33 (1) (c) of the Act and on the conclusion of the Association’s case
adjourned the hearing until 9:30 AM the foliowing day.

On November 19, 2014 the hearing was reconvened and Mr. Bromley was advised that it
was now his opportunity to present evidence in support of his case. Mr. Bromley declined
to give evidence and indicated that he wished instead to make a closing submission only.
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[7]

[8]

[9]

[10]

[11]

[12]

Counsel for the Association, Mr. Hunter, submitted that that the normal practice would be
for the Association to give their closing submission first, so that Mr. Bromley would know
the Association’s arguments before presenting his closing submission. Mr. Bromley
affirmed that he understood and accepted the procedure proposed by Mr. Hunter.

After a short recess, Mr. Hunter made his closing submission, which was followed by some
questions from the Panel.

Mr. Bromley then made his closing submission. At the conclusion of his submission, Mr.
Bromley advised the Panel that he was going to leave the hearing to pick up his children
from school. Mr. Bromley also advised the Panel of his intent to resign his membership in
the Association.

Mr. Hunter advised the Panel and Mr. Bromley that he wished to make a reply submission.
Mr. Bromley left the hearing at 12:15 PM.

The hearing was adjourned for lunch. When the hearing reconvened, Mr. Hunter asked the
Panel whether, since Mr. Bromley not present, his reply submission could be provided in
writing to the Panel and to Mr. Bromley.

The Panel ruled that Mr. Hunter must make his written reply submission by November 21
and that he must advise Mr. Bromley in his cover letter, that if he, Mr. Bromley, wished to
make a written sur-reply submission he must do so by November 26, 2014.

Mr. Hunter submitted his written reply submission to Mr. Bromley and to the Panel on
November 20, 2014. Mr. Bromley did not submit a sur-reply submission by November 26,
nor did he request an extension to the deadline.

BURDEN AND STANDARD OF PROOF

[13]

[14]

In his opening statement, Mr. Hunter explained that the Burden of Proof always rests with
the Association and that Mr. Bromley is not required to prove or disprove anything. He
explained the standard of proof as follows:

“The standard of proof refers to the degree, or level, of proof that must be achieved in
order to prove something in the proceeding. Therefore, as the party bearing the burden
of proof, the Association must prove the elements of the allegations to the required
standard of proof.

The standard of proof in these discipline proceedings is the civil standard of proof —
proof on a balance of probabilities, or 51%, or “that it is more likely than not”. The
standard of proof in these proceedings is not the criminal standard — which is proof
beyond a reasonable doubt.

The standard of proof of a balance of probabilities is the standard of proof you should
apply in this case.”

The Panel accepted Mr. Hunter’s submissions on the burden and standard of proof. Mr.
Bromley made no submission on these points.
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EVIDENCE

{15} Mr. Hunter provided the Panel members with ihe following documents, which were
marked as Exhibits during the course of the presentation of the Association’s case:

Exhibit #1  Notice of Inquiry

Exhibit #2  Engineers and Geoscientists Act [RSBC 1996] Chapter 116

Exhibit #3 By-Laws of the Association (as amended October 2013)

Exhibit #4  Agreed Statement of Facts (November 18, 2014)

Exhibit #5 Environmental Management Act [SBC 2003] Chapter 53 — the Panel

was only provided with excerpts that were referred to in testimony, but
a single copy of the entire Act was provided as Exhibit #5.

Exhibit #6 Contaminated Sites Regulation 375/96 — the Panel was only provided

with excerpts that were referred to in testimony, but a single copy of
the entire Regulation was provided as Exhibit #6.

Exhibit #7  Binder of documents containing William Donald's report and attached

documents (21 tabs) — refer to paragraph [18] below.

Exhibit #8  Association’s Opening — the opening is not evidence and not normally

provided as an exhibit, however, since it was referred to by
Mr. Bromiey in his cross examination of the Association’s witness,
Mr. Donald, it was entered into evidence.

[16] Mr. Hunter called William R. Donald, P.Eng., as an expert witness. Mr. Donald testified to
his experience and knowledge in a number of areas related to the allegations contained in
the Notice of Inquiry. In particular, Mr. Donald described his experience with respect to
the following:

1y

An approved professional, by the Ministry of Environment director of waste
management, qualified to provide recommendations to the Ministry regarding the
remediation of contaminated sites and the issuance of various administrative
instruments.

Site contamination investigation, remediation and risk assessment, particularly
with respect to dry cleaning fluids.

Large remediation projects.

Notice of Independent Remediation under the Environment Management Act.
Soil Relocation Agreement under the Environment Management Act.
Hazardous Waste Regulations under the Environment Management Act.
WorkSafe BC regulations with respect to the handling of material that poses a
threat to workers or the public.

[17] Mr. Bromley had no questions for the witness with respect to his qualification as an expert

witness.

The Panel accepted Mr. Donald as an expert witness.

[18] Mr. Hunter led Mr. Donald through the various documents in Exhibit #7 as follows:
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Tab | Date Document Content
2014-09-30 | Expert Report of Mr. | Mr. Donald’s opinion evidence with respect to the

William Donald, allegations in the Notice of Inquiry and Mr.

P.Eng. Donald’s resume of his qualifications and
experience.

1. |2011-06-21 Letter from Ministry | Complaint from Mr. McCammon regarding Mr.
of Environment, Mr. | Bromleys failure to provide adequate responses to

Alan McCammon, a series of site specific enquiries regarding his

P.Geo. to APEGBC, | work as an environmental consultant and Mr.

Mr. Geoff Thiele McCammon’s opinion that Mr. Bromley does not
have adequate knowledge of the regulatory
requirements.

2. 12011-12-21 Letter from Letter to Mr. Bromley asking for his response to

APEGBC, Mr. Geoff | the complaint from Mr. McCammon. The letter

Thiele, to Mr. refers to extensive documentation provided by Mr.

Bromley McCammon with respect to Mr. Bromley’s work
at a number of sites, including those in the Notice
of Inquiry, and Mr. Bromley’s failure to
adequately respond to enquiries from the Minister.

3. 12012-01-28 | Letter from E-Pro, Mr. Bromley’s response to the complaint from Mr.

Mr. Bromley, to McCammon.

APEGBC, Mr. Geoff

Thiele

4. 12012-04-19 | Letter from Ministry | Mr. McCammon comments on Mr. Bromley’s

of Environment, Mr. | response to the Association.

Alan McCammon,

P.Geo. to APEGBC,

Mr. Geoff Thiele

5. 12012-11-27 | Letter from E-Pro, Response to a request from Mr. Thiele (not

Mr. Bromley, to provided in evidence) enclosing “... a copy of all

APEGBC, Mr. Geoff | files we have on our hard drive including reports,

Thiele drawings, photos, memos, correspondence, notes,
etc. for the events ...”

6. |2013-11-29 | Notes of Notes of an interview between Mr. Bromley and

Investigation the Investigation Committee.

Committee

7. 12009-09-10 | Maxxam Test Report | Ground water analysis of a sample from

I !0 ing Tetrachloroethylene
(levels at 42 and 150 mg/L).

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx
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Tab

Date

Document

Content

2010-10-07

Maxxam Test Report

Soil analysis for | N NN s2mples taken

August 30, 2010 at BH-1:

e Pbat2 ft - 4350 pug/g; the soil standard is
700/4000 ng/g for Commercial/Industrial
lands.

e Cuat?2 fi-921 pg/g; the soil standard is
700/4000 pg/g for Commercial/Industrial
lands.

e Znat2 ft-1670 pg/g; the soil standard is
700/4000 pg/g for Commercial/Industrial
lands.

and at BH-5:

e Pbat2.5-3 ft- 1460 pg/g; the soil standard is
700/4000 pg/g for Commercial/Industrial
lands.

2012-01-19

Notification of
Independent

Remediation

Eveiiiw s iGieing

Notification of Independent Remediation for I

. . . 1A £
Notification submitted on January 19, 2012 for

remediation between October 1, 2010 and
October 15, 2010.

10.

2010-10-22

Maxxam Test Report

Soil analysis for IR samples taken
October 15, 2010 and described as confirmatory.
No elevated concentrations were noted.

11.

2008-11-24

E-Pro Drawing

Borehole location plan for NG

12.

2008-10-28

E-Pro Drawing

Borehole location plan for I

Shows the location of boreholes adjacent to the

I > op< .

13.

2010-10-26
to
2010-10-28

E-mails between
Kevin Bromley and
Erin Magee

This is part of an email string, which is not
complete and some content has been redacted re:
FOI section 21.

The email refers to relocation of 25 loads of soil
from NN [ the email Bromley
says that he has resampled the material and is
waiting for TCLP data from Maxxam.

14.

2010-12-08

E-Pro Report

Test report of Leachate Metals in Soil from Thetis
(M) Stockpile B.

15.

2010-12-08

E-Pro Report

Test report of Soil Chemistry for EPH/BTEX/PAH

Parameters from Thetis (NN
Stockpile B.

16.

2010-12-08

E-Pro Report

Test report of Total Metals in Soil from Thetis
(M) Stockpile B.

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx
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Tab

Date

Document

Content

17.

2010-12-08

E-Pro Report

Test report of Soil Chemistry for Volatile Organic

Compounds from Thetis ()
Stockpile B.

This shows Tetrachloroethylene in sample SP-B1
and SP-B2 at 48 pg/g and the BC standard at 5

pe/g.

18.

2010-12-16

Maxxam Test Report

Test report for Thetis () soil samples
taken on December 12, 2010 and referred to in the

E-Pro reports in Tabs 14 to 17.

This report also shows Tetrachloroethylene in
sample SP-B1 and SP-B2 at 48 pg/g whereas the
BC standard is 5 mg/kg.

19.

2010-11-03

Maxxam Test Report

Test report for I for samples taken on
November 1, 2010.

This report shows Tetrachloroethylene in sample
SP-A-1 at 36 mg/kg whereas the BC standard is

5 mg/kg.

20.

2010-11-01

Maxxam Receipt

Confirmation that samples were received by
Maxxam on November 1, 2010 from 140
Hallowell taken on November 1, 2010.

21.

2010-10-28

Maxxam Test Report

Test report for I for samples taken on
October 22, 2010.

This report shows Tetrachloroethylene in sample
SP-A-1 at 140 mg/kg, SP-A-2 at 44 mg/kg and
SP-A-3 at 13 mg/kg; whereas the BC standard is

5 mg/kg.

[19] Section 54 (2) of the Environmental Management Act requires that

“(2) Any person undertaking independent remediation of a contaminated site must:
a) Notify a director in writing promptly on initiating remediation, and
b) Notify the director in writing within 90 days of completing remediation.”

this notification is made with a Notice of Independent Remediation (NIR).

[20] Mr. Donald testified that, in his opinion, the Environmental Management Act, Section 55
requires a Soil Relocation Agreement (SRA) when contaminated soil is to be transported to
an unauthorized site.

[21] The Association has made five allegations against Mr. Bromley for his remediation work at
different combinations of job sites and times. The evidence that follows was provided
during the hearing, but is organized here against the five different job sites and times.

I - 4 pril 2010

[22] The work at this site in April 2010 involved the excavation and relocation of contaminated
soil. The soil was excavated, placed into bins and transported to [ N R (I

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx Page 7 of 21
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[23]

[24]

[25]

[26]

[27]

). which is an unauthorized site, and subsequently to Hazco, which is an authorized

site.

A NIR was filed on January 19, 2012 by Jim West, but this was related to remediation
between October 1 and October 15, 2010 [Exhibit #7 Tab 9].

Mr. Bromley admitted during his testimony that no NIR was filed [Transcript day 1 page
162] at the time the work was undertaken. He contended that Jim West, as expert
consultant, should have filed an NIR [Transcript day 1 page 156-157].

In his report, Mr. Donald states that Mr. Bromley advised during an interview of
Mr. Bromley called by the Investigation Committee that he was not aware that a NIR was
required [Exhibit #7 Tab 6 and Exhibit 7 page 3].

Mr.Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley failed to submit a NIR as required by the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

Mr. Bromley testified that he thought no SRA was required since he sub-contracted for the
shipment to go to Hazco, an authorized site, and that he was not aware until after the fact
that it was shipped to the MM property ot I v here it was transferred
from bins to a truck for shipment to Hazco [Transcript day 1 page 169-173]. Mr. Bromley
also testified that the manifest showed the shipment went to the Hazco site [Transcript day
1 page 173].

B - Scptember 2010

[28]

[29]

[30]

[31]

[32]

[33]

The work at this site involved the excavation and reiocation of soil to | EGcIGINGIGNGGE
(an unauthorized site) on September 27, 2010.

Mr. Bromley claims that the soil was tested and found to be not contaminated, and he
provided a test report of samples of the wall and floor of the excavation taken on October
15, 2010 [Exhibit #7-Tab 10].

Mr. Donald in his testimony asserts that the sample tested was of material remaining at the
site after the contaminated material had been removed. He bases this conclusion on the
date that the soil sample was taken, October 15, 2010, the notation that the test was
confirmatory and the names of the sample locations, which suggest that they are from the
wall and floor of the excavation. [Transcript day 1 page 58-60].

Mr. Donald, in his report, states “Nonetheless, NI v 2s known to be a
contaminated site on September 2010 and the excavation of soil to I
required a SRA, which was not obtained.” [Exhibit #7, page 4]

In testimony, Mr. Bromley admitted that he did not file a NIR and that he relied on a prior
consultant to have filed a NIR [Transcript day 1 page 162-166]. No evidence was provided
as to the existence of a prior NIR.

Mr. Donald’s opinion is that Mr. Bromley failed to submit a NIR as required by the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx Page 8 of 21
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[34] Mr. Bromley testified as follows:

“I wasn't giving the reports right away, but the previous consultant, I was advised, had
taken out an underground storage tank that was for dry cleaning fluids, and then that
tank -- that tank nest area was then backfilled, and you could -- I mean, it was pretty
definitive. There was a liner as well that differentiated between the native soil and the
actual gravel backfill that was put in the hole. So we were taking out the gravels, and
putting those in bins because for the most part that soil, which we did test was
clean.[sic] " [ Transcript day 1 page 164]

[35] In his letter to the Association of January 28, 2012, Mr. Bromley wrote:

“The work being performed by E-Pro was initially to determine if there was significant
contamination (specifically VOC contaminant migration) in and around the former tank
area. Considering the limited area available to work in, the soil removed from the
excavation area was placed in large steel bins so that (1) the soil that was clean fill could
readily be isolated from any suspect material, (2) the total volume of soil kept on site
could be increased as much as possible, as well as (3) preventing off-site migration of
leachate that may escape from the contaminant suspect stockpiles. The first two bins
were filled with clean back-fill originally placed atop the former tank nest placed there
by the previous environmental consultant separated by a membrane placed there to
prevent cross-contamination. Subsequent bins were then filled with either lightly
contaminated material followed by stock-piles with higher VOC levels. [sic]”

[Exhibit #3 page 2]

[36] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley’s shipment of soil from | N N NN I
I in September, 2010 required a SRA and was in contravention of the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

B - Scptember and October 2010

[37] The work at this site involved the excavation and relocation of soil contaminated with dry
cleaning fluid to | N (2 unauthorized site) on September 18, October 1
and October 2, 2010.

[38] This property has been owned by Mr. Bromley from early 2010 [Transcript day 1 page
175]

[39] The site was contaminated by dry cleaning fluid and groundwater tests of samples taken on
September 3, 2009 showed that the site was contaminated with tetrachlorethene (PERC)
levels as high as 42,000 pg/L and 150,000 pg/L [Exhibit #7-Tab 7]. In his report
Mr. Donald stated that the allowable limit for tetrachlorethene is only 3,000 pg/L [Exhibit
#7 page 6].

[40] Mr. Bromley testified that the site is very wet and physically constrained so excavation and

sampling was impaired. Mr. Bromley was able to place some large rock and boulders to
permit equipment access for excavation. In September 2010, Mr. Bromley excavated

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx Page 9 of 21
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[41]

[42]

[43]

[44]

[45]

{46}

[47]

[48]

[49]

contaminated soil and transported it to Il an unauthorized site [Transcript day
1 page 177-181].

Soil analysis of samples of the stock-piled material from [ N NI EEEEEEE t2ken on
December 8, 2010 showed high levels of tetrachlorethene. Stock-pile SP-B1 measured
48 ug/g, stock-pile SP-B2 measured 48 ng/g and stock-pile SP-B3 measued 15 pg/g.
Mr. Donald testified that the allowable concentration was 5 pug/g.

Mr. Bromley testified under examination in chief by Mr. Hunter regarding the odour
emitting from the stock-piled material at | N NI -s follows:

“The only complaint put forth was by a local resident who was concerned that
contaminated material was being 'dumped’ at the N siie. This resident was
illegally entering the site while walking her dog (as many local residents do) and thus
noted the smell. To the contrary to her concern, this soil was being transferred here
solely on an interim basis so that disposal to a contaminated waste facility could be
accomplished in a practical manner."

Mr. Bromley testified that Jim West filed a NIR in 2008 or 2009 [Transcript day 1 page

146-148]. This NIR was not provided in evidence.

The Association maintains that Mr. Bromley should have filed a new NIR, and relies on
Section 54 (2) of the Environmental Management Act that requires “...any person
undertaking independent remediation of a contaminated site...” to submit a NIR. Mr.
Bromley testified that he was working with Jim West and that in his opinion a new NIR
was not required [Transcript day 1 page 150-153].

Donald’s opinion is that Mr. Bromley failed to submit a NIR as required by the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

Mr. Bromley testified that he knew that a SRA was required for the material he shipped to
I - d that he didn’t apply for one, because he knew it would not be granted
[Transcript day 1 page 173-174].

Mr. Donald’s opinion is that Mr. Bromley’s shipment of soil from | EREE to I
I o Scptember 18, October 1 and October 2, 2010 required a SRA, and that the
shipment of that soil without a SRA was a contravention of the Environmental
Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

Mr. Donald, in his expert report states: “When the concentration exceeds 20 times the
[leachate] standard, it may be hazardous waste.” and later in his report states: “The leachate
standard for tetrachlorethene is 3 mg/L (3000 pg/L). With groundwater concentrations
reported at 42,000 pg/L and 150,000 pg/L, he [Mr. Bromley] should have known that the
material may be Hazardous Waste and failed to submit soil samples for analysis” [Exhibit
#7 page 6].

Mr. Donald in his report describes the harmful effects of tetrachlorethene and the
procedures which must be in place to protect workers and the public.

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx Page 10 of 21
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“While not a toxicologist, I am aware that tetrachlorethene is carcinogenic, mutagenic,
and is known to damage the human central nervous system. When present at a
remediation site, a health and safety plan is necessary to ensure that site workers and the
public near the site and potentially exposed to the chemical, are protected from adverse
effects. Mr. Bromley did advise that there was a health and safety plan in place at the
time of the work; he also advised that monitoring of air quality was not conducted.
Worker and public exposure in this work is mainly by inhalation of tetrachlorethene
vapours. To ensure the site conditions are maintained so as to be protective of worker
and public health, monitoring of air quality is necessary. Mr. Bromley advised that air
quality monitoring was not conducted.”

[50] From Mr. Bromley’s testimony, it is clear that he recognized the potential hazard related to
the high concentrations of PERC in the soil at | N EIIIEEElR | Transcript day 1 page 174-
184]. In response to Mr. Hunter’s question as to who the excavator operator was, Mr.
Bromley testified as follows: “I did it all. T didn’t want to expose anybody, so I did it
myself.” [Transcript day 1 page 184].

I - October 2010

[51] The work at this site involved the excavation and relocation of 23 truckloads of soil
contaminated with metals to | NI (2, unauthorized site) on October 3,
2010.

[52] A test report provided in evidence for soil samples taken on August 30, 2010 at I
I ccport high levels of various metals [Exhibit #7 Tab 8].

Sample from BH-1 | Sample from BH-5 Limit for Limit for

at 2 feet at 3.5-5 feet Commercial land | Industrial land
Lead 4350 pg/g 1460 pg/g 700 pg/g 4000 pg/g
Copper 921 pg/g 250 pg/g 250 pg/g
Zinc 1670 pg/g 600 pg/g 600 pg/g

The units used in the test report are pg/g whereas the units used in testimony in the
following paragraph [59] are in mg/kg. These are equivalent.

[53] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that: “In transporting soil from to [l
I V. Bromley contravened the Contaminate Sites Regulation and, while
not proven Hazardous Waste, the soil was suspect Hazardous Waste and its transport to [l
I v/ 25 in contravention of the Hazardous Waste Regulation.” [Exhibit #7 page 5]

[54] A NIR was filed after the fact on Jan 19, 2012 by Jim West, well after the material was
transported [Exhibit #7 Tab 9].

[55] Mr. Bromley admits that a new NIR was not filed [Transcript day 1 page 162].
[56] Mr. Bromley contends that Jim West, as expert consultant, should have filed the new NIR.

[57] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley failed to submit a NIR as required by the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].
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[58] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley’s shipment of soil from || | I o
I o October 3, 2010 required 2 SRA, and that the shipment of that soil
without a SRA was a contravention of the Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7

page 6].
[59] Mr. Donald in his expert report states:

“Mr. Bromley managed the remediation and transport of soil from NN
A soil sample contained 4250 mg/kg lead and a second sample contained 1670 mg/kg
lead. When a soil sample is subjected to the Modified Leachate Extraction Procedure
and the leachate contains a substance concentration greater than that listed in the
Leachate Quality Standards, it is classified as Hazardous Waste. By the nature of the
test, when a soil sample contains less than 20 times the leachate standard, it will pass the
test. That is, it will not contain a leachate concentration equal to or greater than the
standard. When the concentration exceeds 20 times the standard, it may be hazardous
waste. The two samples referenced in this paragraph exceed 100 mg/kg and, as such, the
soil may be Hazardous Waste. Mr. Bromley failed to submit soil samples for a Toxic
Contaminant Leachate Procedure test before being [prompted] by the Hazardous Waste
Contractor and only then after shipping it to a site that was not authorized to receive
suspect Hazardous Waste.” [Exhibit #7 page 6]

I - October and November, 2010

[60] The work at this site involved the remediation of stockpiles of soil from [IIINIEGEG
I and the relocation of this contaminated soil from _to SIA at N
I o October 29 and November 3, 2010. Neither site is authorized to receive
contaminated soil. In Mr. Bromley’s letter to the Association of January 28, 2012 [Exhibit
#7 Tab 3] Mr. Bromley writes:

“After approximately a month the VOC's concentrations in the first stock-piles (from the
parts of the I sitc where contaminant concentrations where deemed to be the
lowest) showed levels well below CSR RL and CL/IL limitations. Several stock-piles from
the lower elevations of the [N site were found to bear concentrations well above
the standards set either the CSR Industrial limitations deeming it Hazardous Waste
(20xCSR IL limitation) [sic]. Post a morning meeting with my support staff where I
described that a “good portion of this soil was substantially remediated”, I requested my
tech forward this data to either Hazco or Quantum Murray for a quote to dispose of this
soil. Based on this comment made by me, E-Pro’s tech regrettably understood that this
soil was now “non-contaminated” and resultantly stated in his email (and not to my
knowledge) that it was “clean” (despite the analysis showing quite the contrary). To
exacerbate this error, Quantum’s tech agreed to this stating, “yes it looks good”.
Quantum, then chose the same contaminated waste disposal site as the May 2010
shipping event and, shortly thereafter, on the day before shipment was planned for,
Quantum’s tech changed it to SIA’s dump-site.”

[61] Mr. Bromley admits he did not file a NIR and contends that the site is registered as a
contaminated site so a NIR was already done (by others). [Transcript day 1 page 168].
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[62] Mr. Hunter submitted that Mr. Bromley should have filed a new NIR as required by
Section 54 (2) of the Environmental Management Act which states that “...any person
undertaking independent remediation of a contaminated site...” must submit a NIR. Mr.
Bromley admitted that it was an oversight not to have filed a NIR [Transcript day 1 page
168-169].

[63] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley failed to submit a NIR as required by the
Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

[64] Mr. Donald testified as follows:

“I have concluded that Mr. Bromley ought to have known the soil was contaminated, and
that it must be transferred only to sites that are authorized to receive it, or transferred to
a site under a soil relocation agreement, and none of the sites that received the material,
being the | /7 < ..thorized
fo receive the soil, which is then in contravention of the Environmental Management Act
and Contaminated Sites Regulation.” [Transcript day 1 page 94]

[65] Mr. Donald’s expert opinion is that Mr. Bromley’s shipment of soil from | N [ EIIIEEEE o
SIA site at || o October 29 and November 3, 2010 required a SRA and
was in contravention to the Environmental Management Act [Exhibit #7 page 6].

ANALYSIS

[66] As set out in the Notice of Inquiry, the Association has made five allegations against Mr.
Bromley related to the five different combinations of job sites and times, but not all of the
allegations are applicable to all the job sites and times. These allegations are:

1) Failing to file a Notice of Independent Remediation with the Ministry of
Environment (applicable to all the job sites and times);

2) Failing to obtain a soil relocation agreement to relocate contaminated soil
from one site to another (applicable to all the job sites and times);

3) Failing to submit soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate

Procedure test (applicable to the | RN sitc 2nd the
October 2010 activity at the | NGTcTcNNEE )

4) Knew, or ought to have known, that contaminated soil was being
transported to unauthorized sites (applicable to all the job sites and times);
and

5) Undertaking excavation and transportion of soil which he knew, or ought
to have known, was contaminated by tetrachlorethene, but did not have
monitoring of air vapours conducted during execution of the work to
ensure workers or the public were not exposed to vapours at
concentrations that may cause adverse health effects. (applicable to the

I sitc).

[67] For clarity, the analysis presented below is separated into each of the five different job sites
and times.
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I - A pril 2010

[68] The evidence shows that Mr. Bromley was aware that || [ | IS v s »
contaminated site, that he knew that the material he was shipping was contaminated and
that he intended the soil to be transferred to Hazco, which is an authorized site.

[69] The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a NIR was required for this site to
comply with the Environmental Management Act and Regulations. In his closing
submission, Mr. Bromley contends that he asked Jim West to submit a NIR; however, there
was no evidence given to support this contention. Mr. Hunter, in his closing, argued that
“... it is very clear from the EMA section 54 (2) that Mr. Bromley was obliged to notify the
MOE of the independent remediation...”.

[70] With respect to Allegation #1, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to submit a NIR or to ensure that a NIR was submitted, and that
he failed to do so.

[71] The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a Soil Relocation Agreement
(SRA) is required when contaminated soil is transported to a site that has not been
auihorized to receive contaminated soii and that no SRA is required if the soii is being
transported to a site authorized to receive contaminated soil. The evidence shows that the

Hazco site is authorized and the ||} I property at |GG s 1ot

authorized.

[72] In his closing statement, Mr. Bromley argued that he should not be responsible for what the
shipping company did once the shipment left his site and that he contracted for the soil to
be shipped to the authorized site at Hazco. The Panel accepts Mr. Bromley’s argument.

[73] With respect to Allegation #2, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to obtain a SRA if he was shipping to | N | | | NI bt
not if he was shipping to Hazco. On a balance of probabilities, the Panel finds that the
Association has not proved that Mr. Bromley was required to obtain a SRA when the
shipping company moved the material to an unauthorized site, when they had been
contracted to ship the material to an authorized site.

[74] With respect to Allegation #4, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was aware that the material he was shipping was contaminated, but he had
contracted for the material to be shipped to an authorized site.

[75] Allegations #3 and #5 are not applicable to the work undertaken at this site in April 2010.

I - Scptember 2010

[76] This site is a relatively small property, where a previous contractor had removed a leaking
dry-cleaning fluid tank, lined the excavation and backfilled the hole with clean material.
Mr. Bromley removed the material and shipped it to an unauthorized site at ||  NGcNzNG.

[77] Mr. Bromley’s evidence, in paragraph [35] above, shows that the site at ||| | | EJEEE
contained contaminated soil in stockpiles.
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[78] The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that Mr. Bromley was required to
obtain an NIR for this site to comply with the Environmental Management Act and
Regulations.

[79] With respect to Allegation #1, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to submit a NIR or to ensure that a NIR was submitted, and that
he failed to do so.

[80] The Association argues that the material which was shipped to | ENGcNM v 2s
contaminated and that the test samples provided in evidence were taken after the fact and
of the soil remaining at the [ lJllll@ sitc. Mr. Bromley does not contest the fact that the
sample evidence is not from the soil he shipped to| || | | B and he argues that he had
provided Mr. Donald with incorrect soil analysis. Mr. Bromley did not provide the correct
analysis in evidence.

[81] With respect to Allegation #2, and based on the evidence, the Panel accepts the opinion of
the expert witness that a SRA is not required when uncontaminated material is being
shipped to an unauthorized site. On a balance of probabilities, the Panel finds that the
Association has not proved that the soil shipped to | | | JJlllll  2s contaminated.

[82] With respect to Allegation #4, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that the
Association has not proved that the soil shipped to | N EIIIEMIEEEEE v 2s contaminated.

[83] Allegations #3 and #5 are not applicable to the work undertaken at this site.

I - Scptember and October 2010

[84] This site is contaminated with dry cleaning fluid and groundwater tests taken in 2009
indicate very high concentrations of tetrachlorethene. Mr. Bromley was attempting to
remediate the contaminated soil, but due to the wet soil conditions and difficulty with
equipment access he elected to move some of the soil to an alternate site to facilitate the
interim remediation work.

[85] A NIR was filed for this site by Jim West in 2008 or 2009. Mr. Bromley argued that he
worked with Mr. West and can therefore rely on the previous NIR. The Association argued
that this was not adequate and that Mr. Bromley was required to submit his own NIR.

[86] With respect to Allegation #1, and based on the evidence, the Panel finds that the
Association did not prove on a balance of probabilities that a second NIR was required or
that Mr. Bromley could not rely on the NIR submitted by Mr. West.

[87] There was no evidence presented of any analysis of the the contamination level of the
material transported from the | INIEEEER property to . The Association
argued that the evidence of the contaminant levels of the material stock-piled at | NGz
. the odour reported by a woman walking her dog and the high concentration of
tetrachlorethene in the groundwater at | N I I »:oves that the material
transported was heavily contaminated. On a balance of probabilities, the Panel accepts that
the material transported was heavily contaminated.
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[88]

[89]

[90]

[91]

[92]

With respect to Allegation #2, and based on the evidence, the Panel accepts the opinion of
the expert witness, and finds that a SRA is required when contaminated material is being
shipped to an unauthorized site and that the material shipped from ||| N | | NN + 2s
contaminated and the receiving site is not authorized to receive contaminated material.

With respect to Allegation #3, and based on the evidence, the Panel accepts the opinion of
the expert witness, and finds that based on the groundwater analysis the material may be a
Hazardous Waste and a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test was required and that
the test was not conducted.

With respect to Allegation #4, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was aware that the material he was shipping was contaminated and that he
shipped it to an unauthorized site.

With no evidence to the contrary, the Panel accepts the expert opinion of Mr. Donald as to
the potentially harmful effects of tetrachlorethene vapours and that monitoring of
tetrachlorethene vapours was required during the excavation and transportation of the
heavily contaminated soil at this site. Mr. Bromley provided evidence that he transported
the contaminated material himself so as to not endanger his workers and argued in his
ciosing statement that there was “...no proof that these are harmful vapours. This was
overburden...” and by implication that monitoring was not required.

With respect to Allegation #5, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley knew or ought to have known that the material he excavated and transported
was potentially harmful and therefore required monitoring to prevent injury to his workers
or the public. The fact that Mr. Bromley performed the work himself does not release him
from the requirement to monitor the worksite for harmful vapours for his own protection
and for the protection of the public.

I - October 2010

[93]

[94]

[95]

The work at this site involved the excavation and relocation of 23 truckloads of soil
contaminated with metals to [ N }IIIIEEEEEE, - unauthorized site, on October 3, 2010.
A NIR was filed by Mr. West in January 2012 for work to be completed between October 1
and October 15, 2010.

The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a NIR was required for this site to
comply with the Environmental Management Act and Regulations. In his closing
submission, Mr. Bromley contended that he had asked Jim West to submit a NIR; however,
because Mr. Bromley did not testify, there was no evidence on the record to support this
contention. Mr. Hunter, in his closing, argued that “... it is very clear from the EMA
section 54 (2) that Mr. Bromley was obliged to notify the MOE of the independent
remediation...”.

With respect to Allegation #1, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to submit a NIR or to ensure that a NIR was submitted, and that
he failed to do so. The Panel does not accept that filing a NIR 15 months after the work
has been performed would meet the requirements of the Environmental Management Act.

1
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[96] The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a Soil Relocation Agreement
(SRA) is required when contaminated soil is transported to a site that has not been
authorized to receive contaminated soil. The evidence shows that the site at [ NGczNIEzN
is not authorized.

[97] With respect to Allegation #2, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to obtain a SRA to transport the soil from | RN

to | - d that he did not do so.

[98] With respect to Allegation #3, and based on the evidence, the Panel accepts the opinion of
the expert witness that based on the soil analysis, the material may be a Hazardous Waste
and a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test was required and that the test was not
conducted.

[99] With respect to Allegation #4, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was aware that the material he was shipping was contaminated and that he
shipped it to an unauthorized site.

[100] Allegations #5 is not applicable to the work undertaken at this site.

I - October and November, 2010

[101]The work at this site involved the remediation of stockpiles of soil from [ ENEGcGccINNE
I -d the relocation of this contaminated soil from |- S1A' o
I o October 29 and November 3, 2010. Neither site is authorized to receive
contaminated soil.

[102]Mr. Bromley’s own letter of January 28, 2012 (see paragraph [60] above) stated that the
transported soil was contaminated and that Mr. Bromley had intended it to be transported
to a site suitable for accepting such material, but due to an error by his technician, it was
sent to an unauthorized site. The Panel does not accept that an error or misunderstanding
on the part of a subordinate relieves Mr. Bromley from the responsibility of meeting his
legal obligation under legislation.

[103]The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a NIR was required for this site to
comply with the Environmental Management Act and Regulations.

[104] With respect to Allegation #1, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to submit a NIR or to ensure that a NIR was submitted, and that
he failed to do so.

[105] The Panel accepts the opinion of the expert witness that a Soil Relocation Agreement
(SRA) is required when contaminated soil is transported to a site that has not been
authorized to receive contaminated soil. The evidence shows that the site at || N | IR
Il s not authorized to receive contaminated soil.

! The Panel believes that this acronym stands for South Island Aggregates; however, this information was not
provided in evidence.
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[106] With respect to Allegation #2, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was required to obtain a SRA to transport the soil from [ ENEGTcNGEINGE

to NG - d that he did not do so.

[107] With respect to Allegation #4, and based on the evidence, the Panel has determined that
Mr. Bromley was aware that the material he was shipping was contaminated and that it was

shipped to

an unauthorized site.

[108] Allegations #3 and #5 are not applicable to the work undertaken at this site.

DECISION OF THE PANEL

[109] The allegation against Mr. Bromley in the Notice of Inquiry is that he demonstrated
unprofessional conduct contrary to section 33(1)(c) of the Act. In determining whether
there has been unprofessional conduct, the Panel is guided by the Act and by the Code of
Ethics of the Association, which is contained in section 14 (a) of the By-Laws of the
Association. The Code of Ethics states:

“The purpose of the code of ethics is to give general statements of the principles of

ael2n T

et oo VO

ethical conduct in order that members and licensees may fulfill their duty to ihe public, io
the profession and their fellow members and licensees.

Members and licensees shall act at all times with fairness, courtesy and good faith to
their associates, employers, employees and clients, and with fidelity to the public needs.
They shall uphold the values of truth, honesty and trustworthiness and safeguard human
life and welfare and the environment. In keeping with these basic tenets, members and
licensees shall:

1)
2
3)
4

)
6)

7)

8

Hold paramount the safety, health and welfare of the public, the protection of
the environment and promote heaith and safety within the workplace,
Undertake and accept responsibility for professional assignments only when
qualified by training or experience;

Provide an opinion on a professional subject only when it is founded upon
adequate knowledge and honest conviction,

Act as faithful agents of their clients or employers, maintain confidentiality and
avoid a conflict of interest but, where such conflict arises, fully disclose the
circumstances without delay to the employer or client;

Uphold the principle of appropriate and adequate compensation for the
performance of engineering and geoscience work;

Keep themselves informed in order to maintain their competence, strive to
advance the body of knowledge within which they practice and provide
opportunities for the professional development of their associates,

Conduct themselves with fairness, courtesy and good faith towards clients,
colleagues and others, give credit where it is due and accept, as well as give,
honest and fair professional comment,

Present clearly to employers and clients the possible consequences if
professional decisions or judgments are overruled or disregarded;
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9) Report to their association or other appropriate agencies any hazardous, illegal
or unethical professional decisions or practices by members, licensees or
others; and

10) Extend public knowledge and appreciation of engineering and geoscience and
protect the profession from misrepresentation and misunderstanding.”’

[110] After a careful review of the evidence, and of the arguments made by the Association and
by Mr. Bromley, the Panel has determined that the Association has proven the following
allegations on a balance of probabilities, and therefore finds that Mr. Bromley
demonstrated unprofessional conduct in his professional services in relation to soil
relocation at each of the job sites and times named in the Notice of Inquiry, as follows:

D AtHIIIEGEE i ~pril 2010, by failing to file a Notice of Independent
Remediation with the Ministry of Environment;

2) At i: Scptember 2010, by failing to file a Notice of Independent
Remediation with the Ministry of Environment;

3) At i Scptember and October 2010, by failing to obtain a
Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soil, by failing to submit
soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test, by transporting
soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to have known that the soil
was contaminated and undertaking excavation and transportation of soil which he
knew or ought to have known, was contaminated by tetrachlorethene, without
monitoring the air for harmful vapours;

4) At/ i October 2010, by failing to file a Notice of
Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment, by failing to obtain a

Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soil, by failing to submit
soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test and by transporting
soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to have known that the soil
was contaminated; and

5) At/ i~ October and November 2010, by failing to file a Notice
of Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment, by failing to
obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soil and by
transporting soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to have known
that the soil was contaminated.

[111]The Panel finds that the most egregious example of Mr. Bromley’s unprofessional conduct
relates to the site at || | | I, << he blatantly ignored the requirements
for the safe handling of soil that was potentially harmful. By his own evidence, he did not
obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement because he knew that the Ministry of Environment
would not agree to the relocation of the soil to | -
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DETERMINATION OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION AND COSTS

[112]The Panel having made a finding of unprofessional conduct against Mr. Bromley, it is now
required to determine what disciplinary action should flow from that finding, and what (if
any) order should be made as to costs. The Panel therefore directs that the Association
provide it, and Mr. Bromley, with a submission in writing as to: (1) the appropriate
disciplinary action to be taken pursuant to s. 33(2) of the Act; and (2) the appropriate costs
payable pursuant to s. 35 of the Act. Mr. Bromley should be given a reasonable amount of
time to respond to the Association’s submission on disciplinary action and costs with a
written submission of his own. Alternatively, if Mr. Bromley, following his review of the
Association’s submission, requests a hearing before the Panel on disciplinary action and
costs, he may make that request in writing to the Panel and the Panel will make a decision
on that request.

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Unprofessional Conduct.docx Page 20 of 21



A
Dated thisﬁ day of December, 2014.

Discipline Committee Panel:

—
S

/" Paul T.B. Adams, P. Eng.
Chair

Ceizt—

David Ricketts, P.Eng.

OliverVBonham, P.Geo.
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INTRODUCTION

[1] A Discipline Committee Panel (the “Panel”) of the Association of Professional Engineers
and Geoscientists of British Columbia (the “Association”), acting under the authority of the
Engineers and Geoscientists ARSBC 1996 c. 116 as amended (the “Act”), held an
Inquiry on November 18 and 19, 2014 to examine alleged contraventions of the Act and of
the Association’s Code of Ethics by Kevin A. Bromley, P.Eng.

[2] The Panel issued a written determination on December 29, 2015. In paragraph 110 and
111 the Panel rendered its decision as follows:

“110 After a careful review of the evidence, and of the arguments made by the
Association and by Mr. Bromley, the Panel has determined that the Association
has proven the following allegations on a balance of probabilities, and therefore
finds that Mr. Bromley demonstrated unprofessional conduct in his professional
services in relation to soil relocation at each of the job sites and times named in
the Notice of Inquiry, as follows:

1) At - i April 2010, by failing to file a Notice of
Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment;

2) AHEEEEE- " September 2010, by failing to file a Notice of
Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment;

3) A\HIEEEEEEEEEE-<t " Scptember and October 2010, by failing to
obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soil, by failing

to submit soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test, by
transporting soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to have
known that the soil was contaminated and undertaking excavation and
transportation of soil which he knew or ought to have known, was
contaminated by tetrachlorethene, without monitoring the air for harmful
vapours;

4) A -t in October 2010, by failing to file a Notice of
Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment, by failing to

obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soil, by failing
to submit soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate Procedure test and
by transporting soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to have
known that the soil was contaminated; and

5 At n October and November 2010, by failing to file a
Notice of Independent Remediation with the Ministry of Environment, by
failing to obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement to transport contaminated soill
and by transporting soil to an unauthorized site when he knew or ought to
have known that the soil was contaminated.

111 The Panel finds that the most egregious example of Mr. Bromley’s unprofessional
conduct relates to the site | NN NI -<t, where he blatantly ignored
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[3]

[4]

[5]

[6]

[7]

[8]

the requirements for the safe handling of soil that was potentially harmful. By his
own evidence, he did not obtain a Soil Relocation Agreement because he knew that
the Ministry of Environment would not agree to the relocation of the s|jjj 140

In paragraph 112 of its decision the Panel directed

“...that the Association provide it, and Mr. Bromley, with a submission in writing as to:

(1) the appropriate disciplinary action to be taken pursuant to s. 33(2) of the Act; and (2)
the appropriate costs payable pursuant to s. 35 of the Act. Mr. Bromley should be given
a reasonable amount of time to respond to the Association’s submission on disciplinary
action and costs with a written submission of his own. Alternatively, if Mr. Bromley,
following his review of the Association’s submission, requests a hearing before the Panel
on disciplinary action and costs, he may make that request in writing to the Panel and the
Panel will make a decision on that request.”

Counsel for the Panel, Mr. Wredenhagen, transmitted the Panel's determination to Mr.
Hunter and Mr. Bromley by email on January 2, 2015.

The Association provided a written submission on disciplinary action and costs to Mr.
Wredenhagen on January 14, 2015 and suggested that Mr. Bromley provide his submission
to the Panel no later than January 30, 2015 or alternatively, provide a request to the Panel
for an oral hearing by January 21, 2015.

Mr. Wredenhagen responded the same day (January 14, 2015) by replying to Mr. Hunter
and Mr. Bromley and asking Mr. Bromley to advise him (Mr. Wredenhagen) if he took
issue with the dates proposed by Mr. Hunter. Mr. Wredenhagen stated to Mr. Bromley that
if he did not respond, that he would wait until Monday, February 2, 2015 (the first business
day after the January 30 deadline proposed by Mr. Hunter) to forward the Association’s
submission to the Panel.

Mr. Wredenhagen received no submission or any other communication from Mr. Bromley,
and forwarded the Association’s submission to the Panel on February 2, 2015.

The Panel met by telephone conference on February 13, 2015 to consider the Association’s
submission and to make its determination.

SUBMISSION ON PENALTY

[9]

[10]

In his submission, Mr. Hunter referred the Panel to the relevant section of the Act and
relevant case law for professional discipline cases. Mr. Hunter paid particular attention to
the Law Society of B.C. v. Ogilvie [1999] LSBC 17 (“Ogilvie”) which sets out a non-
exhaustive list of factors that may be considered by a hearing panel in determining an
appropriate penalty.

Section 33 (2) of the Act provides that if the Panel finds that a member has demonstrated
unprofessional conduct, then the Panel may, by order, do one or more of the following:
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a) Reprimand the member, licensee or certificate holder;

b) Impose conditions on the membership, licence or certificate of authorization
of the member, licensee or certificate holder;

C) Suspend or cancel the membership, licence or certificate of authorization of
the member, licensee or certificate holder;

d) Impose a fine, payable to the association, of not more than $25,000 on the
member, licensee or certificate holder.

[11] In Ogilvie, a discipline panel of the Law Society set out a non-exhaustive list of factors that
may be considered by a hearing panel in determining an appropriate penalty. The decision
of the Law Society is not a decision of the Court; however, the Panel agrees with Mr.
Hunter that the principles are relevant and provide a useful guide to the application of
penalty in this case. The Panel generally agrees with Mr. Hunter’s submission with respect
to the principles listed in Ogilvie and in particular:

The Nature and Gravity of the Conduct Proven

[12] The most important obligation of the Association under the Act is to protect the public.
The Panel accepts the arguments presented by the Association in their submission in
paragraphs 13 through 18, as follows:

“13. Itis fundamental in the area of contaminated site remediation that the legislated
procedural requirements be followed by professionals undertaking remediation work. It
is that compliance with the statutory scheme which the regulator, the public and owners
and occupiers of contaminated property must rely upon to ensure that public health and
safety is safeguarded.

14. By failing to file a NIR in relation (i | I S ¢ c<t, and
B od failing to seek a SRA to relocate soil fro/jillllllls Street,

, an - O sites when required by the Act, Mr. Bromley’s
conduct fell below the standards expected of a professional engineer.

15. By transporting soil he knew or ought to have known was contaminated to
unauthorised sites, failing to conduct soil samples for a Toxic Contaminant Leachate
Procedure test, and failing to impose adequate health and safety monitoring in
circumstances where these interventions were indicated, Mr. Bromley’s conduct fell well
below the standards and competency expected of a professional engineer.

16. However, Mr. Bromley’s deliberate conduct in removing contaminated soils from

I <. - »roperty that he owned, when he knew it was contrary to the
regulatory scheme is among the most serious unprofessional conduct imaginable. Mr.

Bromley in his letter to the Association dated January 28, 2012 (Exhibit 7 tab 3) pages 4
and 5 acknowledges:
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(€)) “Subsequent to a limited Phase Il ESA completed by E-Pro large portions
of this site was deemed to be contaminated with VOC's attributed to its former
usage as a dry cleaner.” (page 4 last paragraph);

(b) “This idea was agreed to with a caveat; E-Pro take ownership of this land
so it would be off their [Accredit Mortgage] books (per se) with them financing
me a house/office to work from.” (page 5 top paragraph);

(©) “... migration was attributable to E-Pro. At this point Accredit was not
terribly keen to advance E-Pro much more money... The options before me were
to declare bankruptcy ... or ... attempt to clean it up as best as possible.
Subsequently, the plan to ship this soil to an alternative site to facilitate the
interim remediation work...” (page 5 middle paragraph);

(d) “Standard means of shipment of the VOC contaminated soil to a
contaminated waste receiving facility located off of Vancouver Island is typically
in trucks either via the ferries, or to a barge... E-Pro directed relocation of this
soil to Accredit Mortgage' |l site ... in order to partially remediate
this soil by knocking down the VOC contaminant concentrations to levels where
they could be accepted at a facility located on Vancouver Island.” (page 5
paragraph immediately below middle of page);

(e) “... the only complaint put forth was by a local resident who was
concerned that the contaminated material was being “dumped” i b we!l
site. This resident was illegally entering the site while walking her dog (as many
local residents do) and thus noted the smell. To the contrary to her concern, this
soil was being transferred here solely on an interim basis so that disposal to a
contaminated waste facility could be accomplished in a practical manner.” (page
5 last paragraph).

17. Further, as this Panel has found Mr. Bromley exhibited “egregious”

unprofessional conduct at tj <<t site, when he “blatantly ignored
the requirements for safe handling of soil that was potentially harmful”. At the inquiry,

Mr. Bromley said he knew a SRA was required but he did not apply for a SRA to relocate
soil from that site because he knew it would not be granted. His evidence was that he
knew there was “no site that they're [the MOE] going to approve for me to relocate that
soil to”.

(Inquiry Transcript, November 18, 2014, p. 173-174) (Tab C).

18. Mr. Bromley sought to justify his conduct by the fact that he knew the Ministry of
Environment would not agree to the relocation of the soil fron]i Y ates
I site to a site not authorized to receive it. In the Association’s submission this
constitutes deliberate and deceptive conduct by a professional engineer which warrants
the imposition of the most severe penalty.”

[13] The Panel found in its earlier determination that Mr. Bromley’s failure to comply with
environmental and safety regulations with respect to the proper handling of contaminated
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soil was unprofessional conduct and agrees with Mr. Hunter that Mr. Bromley has fallen
well below the standards of professionalism expected of him, violating both the Act and
Code of Ethics.

The Age and Experience of the Member

[14] Mr. Bromley, with 15 years of experience in the area of contaminated site rehabilitation,
should know and understand the Provincial regulations, and yet he deliberately disregarded
those requirements.

The lmpact on the Victim

[15] The Panel agrees with Mr. Hunter that the victim in this case is public safety and that the
public expect that professional engineers will follow the regulatory requirements set out in
the appropriate legislation. Mr. Bromley failed to comply with the regulatory requirements
for the safe handling of contaminated soils.

The Number of Timesthe Offending Conduct Occurred

[16] The Panel determined that Mr. Bromley demonstrated unprofessional conduct in his
professional services in relation to soil relocation, as described in paragraph [2] above.
This unprofessional conduct was related to his work at 5 sites and included various failures
to comply with regulation as described in the Panel’'s determination.

[17] Mr. Hunter, in his submission on penalty, states:

“The repetitive nature of his conduct is an aggravating factor which illustrates an
unwillingness to conduct his engineering practice in the manner reasonably expected of a
professional engineer in the area of contaminated sites remediation.”

Whether Mr. Bromley has Acknowledged the Misconduct and Taken Stepsto Disclose and
Redressthe Wrong, and the Presence or Absence of Other Mitigating Circumstances

[18] Mr. Hunter suggests, in paragraph 23 of his submission, that there are three aggravating
factors to be considered in assessing Mr. Bromley’s unprofessional conduct:

“(@) Mr. Bromley’s guilt was only determined after a hearing. Mr. Bromley made few
admissions until he was forced to do so by the evidence;
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(b) The number of instances (seven) of where Mr. Bromley demonstrated
unprofessional conduct in violation of the Act in circumstances where he knew or ought
to have known his legislated obligations;

(c) Mr. Bromley’s blatant attempts to deflect responsibility for his violations of the
Act onto others, such as Jim West, rather than take ownership of his own unprofessional
conduct.”

[19] The Panel accepts the aggravating factors described by Mr. Hunter and Mr. Hunter’s
assertion that no mitigating factors were presented to the Panel, except Mr. Bromley’s

financial constraints in dealing with his propert\ i N Strect.

The Possibility of Remediating or Rehabilitating Mr. Bromley

[20] Mr. Hunter suggests that the appropriate penalty for Mr. Bromley is cancellation of his
membership. In paragraph 26 of his submission Mr. Hunter states:

“26.  When making a determination on penalty, the Association submits that the
prospects of rehabilitation should be given proper weight and consideration. While Mr.
Bromley’s lack of disciplinary record suggests that remediation and rehabilitation may

be possible through the application of an appropriate penalty, the number of Mr.
Bromley’s violations of the Act suggest an unwillingness to follow the legislated regime
for contaminated site remediation when it is not convenient to do so. This willful
disregard for the requirements of the regulatory scheme for contaminated sites demands
the most severe penalty, cancellation of membership, for Mr. Bromley.”

[21] The Panel does not agree that the seriousness and repetitiveness of Mr. Bromley’s offences
should offset the opportunity for the rehabilitation of Mr. Bromley and therefore, does not
accept that Mr. Bromley’s membership should be cancelled.

The Need for Specific and General Deterrence

[22] The Panel agrees that the penalty must be significant enough to act as both a specific
deterrent for Mr. Bromley and as a general deterrent.

Maintaining Public Confidencein the Integrity of the Profession to other members of the
profession.

[23] Mr. Hunter, in paragraph 30 of his submission, states:

“30. The Association submits that the Panel ought to consider how the ultimate penalty
for the impugned conduct will be perceived by the wider community. While the Panel
should not be unreasonably heavy-handed in dispensing a penalty, neither should it
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appear to trivialize Mr. Bromley’s conduct imposing a penalty which may be perceived
as inconsequential.”

[24] As noted in paragraph [7][7] above Mr. Bromley did not provide any submissions in
response to Mr. Hunter's submission on penalty and costs. Therefore, in its consideration
of the appropriate penalty, the Panel was guided by the Association’s submission, the Act
and relevant case law.

PENALTY SUGGESTED

[25] Mr. Hunter suggests that the appropriate penalty for Mr. Bromley is cancellation of his
membership or, in the alternative, an 18 month suspension of his membership followed by
conditions on his membership, including a restriction that Mr. Bromley not practice in the
area of contaminated site rehabilitation except under the direct supervision of another
professional engineer.

[26] To support his recommendation on penalty, Mr. Hunter refers to three discipline cases.
APEGBC vs. Ackbar resulted in a 15 month suspension, but it was noted that Mr. Ackbar
cooperated during the investigation, and that he pled guilty. The other two cases, APEGBC
vs. Baker and APEGBC vs. Lloyd, both resulted in cancellation of the respondent’s
membership.

SUBMISSION ON COSTS
[27] Sections 35 (1) and (3) of the Act state:

“(1) If the discipline committee makes a determination under section 33 (1), the
discipline committee may direct that reasonable costs of and incidental to the
investigation under section 30 and the inquiry under section 32, including
reasonable fees payable to solicitors, counsel and witnesses, or any part of the
costs, be paid by the person, and the costs may be determined by the committee.”

(3) If the discipline committee directs that costs be paid and determines the amount
under subsection (1) or (2), the amount may be assessed by the registrar or district
registrar of the Supreme Court, in the judicial district in which the inquiry under
section 32 takes place, as special costs under the Supreme Court Civil Rules, as
nearly as they are applicable.”

[28] Mr. Hunter submits that the awarding of costs under section 30 (1) is a two step process.
First, the Panel must determine if it should exercise its discretion and award costs to the
Association; second, it must determine the appropriate level of costs.

[29] Mr. Hunter cites Currie v. Thomas, 1985 BC Court of, 19 D.L.R) $94 (B.C.C.A.) and
states that “Discretion must be exercised in a judicial manner and not arbitrarily or
capriciously”. He goes on to state that “A successful party usually has a reasonable
expectation of obtaining an order for costs unless there are valid circumstances, connected
with the case, to depart from the normal rule.”
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[30]

[31]

[32]

[33]

For these reasons, the Panel determined that it is appropriate to award costs to the
Association.

Mr. Hunter submits that section 35 (3) of the Act states that costs “may be assessed by the
Registrar of the Supreme Court as “Special Costs” under the Supreme Court Rules.” Mr.
Hunter goes on to state that “Special Costs refer to costs that are proper or reasonably
necessary to conduct the proceeding.”

Mr. Hunter cites various legal precedents, which suggest that reasonable cost awards are in
the range of 70% to 90% of actual costs. Mr. Hunter asks the Panel to direct that Mr.
Bromley pay 70% of the Association’s actual costs (which were $50,256.99), which Mr.
Hunter calculated to be $35,179.

As noted in paragraph [7][7] above Mr. Bromley did not provide any submissions in
response to Mr. Hunter’'s submission on penalty and costs. Therefore, in its consideration
of costs, the Panel was guided by the Association’s submission, the Act and relevant case
law.

DETERMINATION ON PENALTY AND COSTS

[34]

[35]

[36]

[37]

On reaching its decision on penalty, the Panel was guided by the following principles:
a) the need to protect the public;

b) the need to generally deter conduct of this nature by other members of the
Association;

C) the need to specifically deter Mr. Bromley from conduct of this nature; and
d) the need to rehabilitate Mr. Bromley.

After careful consideration of the submission made by Mr. Hunter on behalf of the
Association the Panel has determined that cancellation of Mr. Bromley’s membership is
too severe and accepts the Associations alternate suggestion of a lengthy suspension
followed by conditions on his membership.

The Panel was guided by the examples provided by Mr. Hunter in his submission that
special costs are generally in the range of 70% to 90% of actual costs. The Panel agrees
and has determined that Mr. Bromley should pay costs as set out below.

After careful consideration of the submission made by Mr. Hunter, the relevant case law
and the principles laid out in paragraph [34] above, the Panel makes the following order on
penalty and costs.

a) Mr. Bromley’'s membership in the Association shall be suspended for a period of
18 months beginning on the date of this determination.

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Penalty and Costs.docx Page 9 of 11



b) Mr. Bromley will be the subject of a general practice review and, if so required by
the Practice Review Committee, a technical practice review. Both the general
practice review and the technical practice review, if required, must be completed
before Mr. Bromley’s membership is reinstated following the 18 month
suspension in a) above. The cost of the general practice review and the technical
practice review, if required, will be borne by Mr. Bromley.

c) Mr. Bromley must complete the Law and Ethics Program and pass the
Professional Practice Exam offered by the Association, before his membership is
reinstated following the 18 month suspension in a) above.

d) Following the completion of his suspension, Mr. Bromley will not practice
professional engineering except under the supervision of another engineer who is
a member of the Association, approved in writing in advance by the Registrar of
the Association (the "Supervisor”). Mr. Bromley must submit the names of
professional engineers to the Registrar to be considered for appointment as a
Supervisor prior to the completion of his suspension. If a Supervisor is not
appointed prior to the completion of his suspension, Mr. Bromley’s membership
in the Association shall remain suspended until such time that a Supervisor is
appointed. The supervision of Mr. Bromley by the Supervisor will continue for
one year from the date that the Supervisor is approved in writing by the Registrar
of the Association. The Supervisor shall provide reports every 90 days to the
Registrar about Mr. Bromley’s work under supervision (the "Reports"). At the
conclusion of the twelve month period of supervision, the Supervisor shall report
to the Discipline Committee by providing a written opinion as to whether Mr.
Bromley requires continuing supervision and for how long (the "Final Report”).
Mr. Bromley shall provide to the Supervisor regular updates to his engineering
project list during the Supervision period. The costs of the Supervision, including
the cost of the Reports and the Final Report, are to be borne by Mr. Bromley.

e) Mr. Bromley shall pay to the Association $35,179 for the Association’s legal,
investigation and inquiry costs.

f) If any of the conditions of this Order are not met, Mr. Bromley’s membership in
the Association will be suspended, or continue to be suspended if his suspension
under a) above is not complete, until such time as all of these conditions have
been met by Mr. Bromley.

Kevin Bromley-Panel Determination on Penalty and Costs.docx Page 10 of 11



Dated this 24" day of February, 2015.

Discipline Committee Panel:

Paul T.B. Adams, P. Eng,
Chair

i,

.
Yy

Olivelf Bonham, P.Geo.
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